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State Response to COVID-19
As of March 31, 2020 – 3:30 PM (CST)

State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Alabama Yes

Licensed nurses are allowed to work in Alabama without an Alabama 
license for a period of 30 days after the Governor declares a state 
disaster. In the event that a licensed healthcare facility activates its 
emergency operation plan in response to a public health emergency, 
a licensed nurse or advanced practice nurse may act within such 
alternative standards of care delivery as are authorized by the 
Governor’s Proclamation and alternative standards and scope of 
practice as are provided in the emergency operations plan, provided that 
any such practice is within the scope of practice, education, training, and 
national certification of the licensed nurse or advanced practice nurse 
and congruent with any limits imposed in the Code of Alabama and not 
addressed by the Governor’s Proclamation.

 (1) In the event the Governor proclaims a state of emergency 
impacting any part of Alabama, Code of Ala. 1975 Section 34-21-6 
applies for the first thirty (30) days. An individual licensed to practice 
nursing in another state may provide emergency assistance in 
Alabama for up to thirty (30) days subject to verification of licensure 
in the state where licensed. Any organization or individual who 
provides employment or volunteer opportunities for the licensed 
nurse providing nursing services is responsible to ensure the validity 
of the nursing license.  
 (2) Should an emergency continue past thirty days, a temporary 
permit to practice nursing in Alabama for ninety (90) days is required. 
An application for an emergency temporary permit is required to be 
submitted to the Board electronically.

State of Emergency 
Declaration 

Alabama Statute 
referenced in 
Emergency 
Declaration

Alaska No None

American Samoa No None

Arizona Yes
Arizona Revised Statutes establishes “a process for temporary waiver of 
professional licensure requirements necessary for the implementation 
of any measures required to address the state of emergency."

ARS § 36-787

Governor’s Press 
Release

Executive Order 
2020-07

Arkansas Yes None
Arkansas has started an expedited licensing process. These licenses 
are only single state and valid three months. Nurses with any current 
discipline are excluded. 

Expedited 
Licensure

California
No

"Any out-of-state personnel, including, but not limited to, medical 
personnel, entering California to assist in preparing for, responding 
to, mitigating the effects of, and recovering from COVID-19 shall be 
permitted to provide services in the same manner as prescribed 
in Government Code section 179.5, with respect to licensing and 
certification."

Proclamation 
of a State of 
Emergency

EMS Clarification

Please note: Refresh your browser to see the most up-to-date version of this document prior to downloading.

https://www.abn.alabama.gov/
https://governor.alabama.gov/newsroom/2020/03/state-of-emergency-coronavirus-covid-19/
https://governor.alabama.gov/newsroom/2020/03/state-of-emergency-coronavirus-covid-19/
https://law.justia.com/codes/alabama/2016/title-31/chapter-9/article-1/section-31-9-16/
https://law.justia.com/codes/alabama/2016/title-31/chapter-9/article-1/section-31-9-16/
https://law.justia.com/codes/alabama/2016/title-31/chapter-9/article-1/section-31-9-16/
https://law.justia.com/codes/alabama/2016/title-31/chapter-9/article-1/section-31-9-16/
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/ProfessionalLicensing/BoardofNursing.aspx
http://www.azbn.gov/
https://www.azleg.gov/viewdocument/?docName=https://www.azleg.gov/ars/36/00787.htm
https://azgovernor.gov/governor/news/2020/03/governor-doug-ducey-issues-declaration-emergency-executive-order-combat
https://azgovernor.gov/governor/news/2020/03/governor-doug-ducey-issues-declaration-emergency-executive-order-combat
https://azgovernor.gov/sites/default/files/eo_2020-07.pdf
https://azgovernor.gov/sites/default/files/eo_2020-07.pdf
https://www.arsbn.org/
https://www.arsbn.org/Websites/arsbn/images/Application.ExpeditedRenewal3.2020.pdf
https://www.arsbn.org/Websites/arsbn/images/Application.ExpeditedRenewal3.2020.pdf
https://www.rn.ca.gov/
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-SOE-Proclamation.pdf
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-SOE-Proclamation.pdf
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-SOE-Proclamation.pdf
https://emsa.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/71/2020/03/MHPAuthorizationPolicyAndProcedure.pdf?_cldee=a2J1cmNoaWxsQGNhbGhvc3BpdGFsLm9yZw%3d%3d&recipientid=contact-4364d70e374fe911813d00155d0ca415-8f7e1a3b10524369b81a50c26ffe5ec4&esid=a3d115d3-7069-ea11-a8
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State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Colorado Yes None

Department 
of Regulatory 
Agencies Guidance 
for Healthcare 
Professionals

Connecticut No

“I hereby order the temporary suspension for a period of sixty 
consecutive days, of the requirement for for licensure, certification, 
or registration pursuant to ... Chapter378 (nursing)... to allow persons 
who are appropriately licensed, certified, or registered in another state 
or territory of the U.S. or the District of Columbia, to render temporary 
assistance in Connecticut within the scope of the profession of which a 
provider is licensed, certified, or registered,”

Department of 
Public Health Order

Delaware Yes

1. Out of state health care providers, including physicians, pharmacists, 
respiratory therapists, physician assistants, paramedics, emergency 
medical technicians, practical nurses, professional nurses, advanced 
practice registered nurses, and nursing assistants with an active license 
or certification in good standing in any United States jurisdiction are 
hereby authorized to provide healthcare services in Delaware. 
 
Delaware employers will complete a Medical Personnel Request form 
along with the unlicensed healthcare provider and the form will be 
submitted to the Division of Professional Regulation c/o Pam Zickafoose. 
Applications are being processed as usual. Temporary permits are being 
issued to graduate nurses who meet the NCLEX eligibility requirements, 
at no charge, as long as they have an offer of employment from a DE 
facility.

DEMA and DPH 
Order

D.C. No

"Licensure, registration or certification requirements, permits and fees 
shall be waived for health care practitioners appointed as temporary 
agents of the District of Columbia. Any health care provider who is 
licensed in their home jurisdiction in their field of expertise who is 
providing health care to District residents shall be deemed a temporary 
agent of the District of Columbia for the duration of this Order"

Administrative 
Order 2020-02

Florida Yes

"Health care professionals, advanced life support professionals, and 
basic life support professionals holding a valid, unrestricted, and 
unencumbered license in any state, territory, and/or district may render 
such services in Florida during a period not to exceed thirty days unless 
extended by order of the State Surgeon General, if such health care 
practitioner does not represent or hold themselves out as a health care 
practitioner licensed to practice in Florida."

Emergency Order

https://dpo.colorado.gov/Nursing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1d0YxbrxbgWDmVsJkHnsnoC1YfgW5hH38/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1d0YxbrxbgWDmVsJkHnsnoC1YfgW5hH38/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1d0YxbrxbgWDmVsJkHnsnoC1YfgW5hH38/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1d0YxbrxbgWDmVsJkHnsnoC1YfgW5hH38/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1d0YxbrxbgWDmVsJkHnsnoC1YfgW5hH38/view
https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Public-Health-Hearing-Office/Board-of-Examiners-for-Nursing/Board-of-Examiners-for-Nursing
https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/Coronavirus/20200323-DPH-order-allowing-outofstate-practitioners-to-render-temporary-assistance-in-Connecticut.pdf?la=en
https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/Coronavirus/20200323-DPH-order-allowing-outofstate-practitioners-to-render-temporary-assistance-in-Connecticut.pdf?la=en
https://dpr.delaware.gov/boards/nursing/
https://governor.delaware.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2020/03/DEMA-and-DPH-Order-3.23.20.pdf
https://governor.delaware.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2020/03/DEMA-and-DPH-Order-3.23.20.pdf
https://dchealth.dc.gov/
https://dchealth.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/doh/page_content/attachments/Order%20-%20Licensure%20Waivers.20.03.13.pdf
https://dchealth.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/doh/page_content/attachments/Order%20-%20Licensure%20Waivers.20.03.13.pdf
https://floridasnursing.gov/
http://s33330.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/filed-eo-doh-no.-20-002-medical-professionals-03.16.2020.pdf
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State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Georgia Yes

The Georgia BON is authorized to grant temporary licenses for nurses 
who apply for temporary licensure, who are currently licensed in 
good standing in another state as an APRN, RN, LPN during state of 
emergency.

Georgia Board of 
Nursing

Guam No

(2) The public health authority may waive any or all licensing 
requirements, permits or fees required by the Government Code of 
Guam and applicable orders, rules or regulations for health care 
providers from other jurisdictions to practice on Guam.

Executive Order 
No. 2020-03

GCA Emergency 
Health Powers

Hawaii No

Chapter 457, HRS, nurses, and chapter 16-89, HAR, nurses, to the extent 
necessary to allow out-of-state licensed practical nurses, 
registered nurses, advanced practice registered nurses, and advance 
practice registered nurses with prescriptive authority with 
a current and active license, or those previously licensed pursuant to 
chapter 457, HRS, but who are no longer current and active, to 
practice in Hawai'i without a license.

Emergency 
Declaration

Idaho Yes

Yes, “state licensing agencies and departments are authorized to 
temporarily exercise enforcement discretion, implement temporary 
rules, and waive licensing and related requirements to maximize access 
to health care services and provider support in response to COVID-19.”

In response, the Idaho BON is currently offering temporary licensure 
for: inactive licensees wishing to reactive their unencumbered 
Idaho license, one-time short-term licensure for LPNs and RNs 
licensed in non-compact states, expedited temporary licensure 
for APRNs licensed in another state, and New Graduate Licenses 
for Senior Nursing students. Fees and background checks have 
been temporarily waived. Nursing students that have successfully 
completed a basic fundamentals nursing course and are in 
good academic standing may apply for the Nurse Apprentice 
program. If the Nursing Student/Nurse Apprentice has successfully 
completed a pharmacology course, they may assist with medication 
administration. Nursing students may count Nurse Apprentice and 
New Graduate Temp hours as clinicals.

Proclamation

APRN Licensed in 
Another State

RN/LPN Non-
Compact State

Illinois No None

“LPNs, RNs, APRNs can receive a temporary permit valid through 
September 30, 2020 if you have a current, active license 
for one of the professions above in good standing from another U.S. 
jurisdiction. Applicants must complete the Health Care Temporary 
Practice Application.”

IDFPR FAQ

Indiana Awaiting
Suspension of the requirement that a health care provider hold an 
Indiana license if he or she has an equivalent from another state

Governor Executive 
Order

https://sos.ga.gov/index.php/licensing/plb/45
https://sos.ga.gov/PLB/acrobat/Forms/38%20Reference%20-%20GBON%20Policy%201.16%20Temporary%20Permits%20Issued%20During%20Public%20Health%20State%20of%20Emergency.pdf
https://sos.ga.gov/PLB/acrobat/Forms/38%20Reference%20-%20GBON%20Policy%201.16%20Temporary%20Permits%20Issued%20During%20Public%20Health%20State%20of%20Emergency.pdf
http://dphss.guam.gov/guam-board-of-nurse-examiners-2/
http://dphss.guam.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/COVID19-EO.pdf.pdf
http://dphss.guam.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/COVID19-EO.pdf.pdf
https://statecodesfiles.justia.com/guam/2019/title-10/division-1/chapter-19/chapter-19.pdf?ts=1580422409
https://statecodesfiles.justia.com/guam/2019/title-10/division-1/chapter-19/chapter-19.pdf?ts=1580422409
http://cca.hawaii.gov/pvl/boards/nursing/
https://governor.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/2003109-ATG_COVID-19-Supplementary-Proclamation-signed.pdf
https://governor.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/2003109-ATG_COVID-19-Supplementary-Proclamation-signed.pdf
https://ibn.idaho.gov/
https://gov.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/74/2020/03/covid-19-declaration_final.pdf
https://ibn.idaho.gov/aprn-licensed-in-a-state-other-than-idaho/
https://ibn.idaho.gov/aprn-licensed-in-a-state-other-than-idaho/
https://ibn.idaho.gov/lpn-or-rn-in-a-non-compact-state/
https://ibn.idaho.gov/lpn-or-rn-in-a-non-compact-state/
https://www.idfpr.com/profs/Nursing.asp
https://www.idfpr.com/FAQ/COVID19/FAQS%20-%20COVID19%20OUT%20OF%20STATE%20TEMP%20PERMIT.pdf
https://www.in.gov/pla/nursing.htm
https://www.in.gov/gov/files/EO_20-05.pdf
https://www.in.gov/gov/files/EO_20-05.pdf
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State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Iowa Yes

"Temporarily suspend the regulatory provisions of Iowa Code § 147.10 
and Iowa Admin. Code rules 653-9.13(6) and 9.14, rules 655-3.7(5), 
rules 645-261.8, and rules 645-326.9(8), and all other implementing 
administrative rules which prohibit the practice of medicine and surgery, 
osteopathic medicine and surgery, nursing, respiratory care, and practice 
as a physician assistant, by a licensee whose licenses is inactive or 
lapsed. Suspension of these provisions is limited to licenses which have 
lapsed or expired within the five (5) years prior to the Proclamation 
and is further limited to the provision of medical and nursing care and 
treatment of victims of this public health disaster emergency and solely 
for the duration of this Proclamation."

Proclamation 
of Disaster 
Emergency

Kansas Yes

60-3-112. Exempt license. (a) An exempt license shall be granted 
only to a registered professional or practical nurse who meets these 
requirements: (1) Is not regularly engaged in nursing practice in 
Kansas, but volunteers nursing services or is a charitable health care 
provider as defined by K.S.A. 75-6102 and amendments thereto; ..."

Kansas Nurse 
Practice Act

Kentucky Yes

(a) The practice of any currently licensed nurse of another state 
practicing in this state during an emergency occurring in this state 
or any other state declared by the President of the United States or 
the Governor of Kentucky. The duration and conditions of the practice 
shall be determined by the board;

Nurse Practice 
Act - Excepted 
Activities

Executive Order 
2020-215

Louisiana Yes

Yes, declares emergency pursuant to Louisiana Health Emergency 
Powers Act. This Act provides "for the temporary appointment, licensing 
or credentialing of health care providers who are willing to assist in 
responding to the public health emergency."

First emergency rule amended LAC 46:XLVII.3329 relating to 
temporary permits issued to RN applicants. Under the emergency 
provisions, the LSBN may extend the expiration of a temporary 
permit or reinstate an expired permit for nursing graduates who have 
not taken the NCLEX-RN provided that the meets the 3 stipulations 
identified in the emergency rule. Any permit extended or reinstated in 
accordance with the public health emergency exception shall be valid 
for 120 days and may be extended for additional 90-day increments.

Louisiana Health 
Emergency Powers 
Act

LSBN Press 
Release

LSBN Temp Permit 
Emergency Rule

Maine Yes

Yes, ME SB 789 was enacted. Provides the Governor, on a temporary 
basis, with additional powers for the duration of the state of emergency 
to "modify or suspend the requirements for professional or occupational 
licensing or registration by any agency, board or commission if strict 
compliance with such requirements would in any way prevent, hinder or 
delay necessary action in dealing with the emergency."

Maine Legislation

https://nursing.iowa.gov/
https://governor.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Public%20Health%20Proclamation%20-%202020.03.17.pdf
https://governor.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Public%20Health%20Proclamation%20-%202020.03.17.pdf
https://governor.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Public%20Health%20Proclamation%20-%202020.03.17.pdf
https://ksbn.kansas.gov/
https://ksbn.kansas.gov/wp-content/uploads/NPA/npa.pdf
https://ksbn.kansas.gov/wp-content/uploads/NPA/npa.pdf
https://kbn.ky.gov/Pages/default.aspx
https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/statutes/statute.aspx?id=48253
https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/statutes/statute.aspx?id=48253
https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/statutes/statute.aspx?id=48253
https://ewscripps.brightspotcdn.com/38/21/b8b110e84209ac8417179ffe3f01/2020-misc-2020-0215-266310.pdf?fbclid=IwAR3eSlDIGdNUkGnC17OGYrtsi4P_Rg6G0att6OS8-PK9J7j6XR0qQeCvnIM
https://ewscripps.brightspotcdn.com/38/21/b8b110e84209ac8417179ffe3f01/2020-misc-2020-0215-266310.pdf?fbclid=IwAR3eSlDIGdNUkGnC17OGYrtsi4P_Rg6G0att6OS8-PK9J7j6XR0qQeCvnIM
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/
https://legis.la.gov/legis/Law.aspx?d=207680
https://legis.la.gov/legis/Law.aspx?d=207680
https://legis.la.gov/legis/Law.aspx?d=207680
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/1/Documents/news/LSBNEmerRules.pdf
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/1/Documents/news/LSBNEmerRules.pdf
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/1/Documents/news/StudentTempPermit.pdf
http://www.lsbn.state.la.us/Portals/1/Documents/news/StudentTempPermit.pdf
https://www.maine.gov/boardofnursing/
http://legislature.maine.gov/legis/bills/getPDF.asp?paper=SP0789&item=1&snum=129
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State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Maryland Yes

"Any person who holds a valid, unexpired license as a health care 
practitioner that is issued by another state may, at a health care facility 
in Maryland, engage in activities authorized under such license without 
first obtaining a license or practice letter" "Any inactive practitioner 
may, at a health care facility in Maryland, engage in activities that 
would have been authorized under his/her inactive license without 
first reinstating" "A healthcare practitioner may engage in activities 
that are not authorized by his/her license at a health care facility in 
Maryland" "Effective immediately, all licenses and certificates that are 
scheduled to expire during the state of emergency and catastrophic 
health emergency are hereby extended until the 30th day after the date 
by which the state of emergency is terminated and the catastrophic 
health emergency is rescinded." "Notwithstanding any other provision 
of law, establish or waive telehealth protocols for COVID-19, including 
authorizing health care professionals licensed out-of-state to provide 
telehealth to patients in the State"

10.27.01.03 A. Registered nurses or licensed practical nurses who 
hold a current active license in any other state or jurisdiction may 
render nursing care:… (3) During an emergency situation.

Executive Order 
Relating to Various 
Health Care 
Matters	

Board of Nursing 
Communication 
to Licensee/
Certificate Holder

Code of Maryland

Massachusetts No

The Board of Registration in Nursing adopts this policy to establish 
its plan to expedite the processing of reciprocal license applications 
for nurses that are licensed in another jurisdiction to meet emergent 
needs in Massachusetts in the event of a declared public health 
emergency.

Board of 
Registration in 
Nursing Licensure 
Policy 10-03

Michigan No

"MCL 333.16171 Under the circumstances and subject to the 
limitations stated in each case, the following individuals are not 
required to have a license issued under this article for practice of a 
health profession in this state: (c) An individual who by education, 
training, or experience substantially meets the requirements of this 
article for licensure while rendering medical care in a time of disaster 
or to an ill or injured individual at the scene of an emergency."

Bureau of 
Professional 
Licensing

Minnesota No

https://mbon.maryland.gov/Pages/default.aspx
https://governor.maryland.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-Health-Care-Matters.pdf
https://governor.maryland.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-Health-Care-Matters.pdf
https://governor.maryland.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-Health-Care-Matters.pdf
https://governor.maryland.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-Health-Care-Matters.pdf
https://mbon.maryland.gov/Documents/covid-19-executive-orders/20200324-mbon-licensee-certificate-holder-communication.pdf
https://mbon.maryland.gov/Documents/covid-19-executive-orders/20200324-mbon-licensee-certificate-holder-communication.pdf
https://mbon.maryland.gov/Documents/covid-19-executive-orders/20200324-mbon-licensee-certificate-holder-communication.pdf
https://mbon.maryland.gov/Documents/covid-19-executive-orders/20200324-mbon-licensee-certificate-holder-communication.pdf
http://mdrules.elaws.us/comar/10.27.01.03
https://www.mass.gov/orgs/board-of-registration-in-nursing
https://www.mass.gov/doc/expedited-processing-of-reciprocal-license-applications-in-the-event-of-a-declared-public/download
https://www.mass.gov/doc/expedited-processing-of-reciprocal-license-applications-in-the-event-of-a-declared-public/download
https://www.mass.gov/doc/expedited-processing-of-reciprocal-license-applications-in-the-event-of-a-declared-public/download
https://www.mass.gov/doc/expedited-processing-of-reciprocal-license-applications-in-the-event-of-a-declared-public/download
https://www.michigan.gov/
https://www.michigan.gov/documents/lara/LARA_BPL_Clarification_MI_License_Exemption_State_of_Emergency_03-16-2020_Final_683898_7.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/documents/lara/LARA_BPL_Clarification_MI_License_Exemption_State_of_Emergency_03-16-2020_Final_683898_7.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/documents/lara/LARA_BPL_Clarification_MI_License_Exemption_State_of_Emergency_03-16-2020_Final_683898_7.pdf
https://mn.gov/boards/nursing/
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State

Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Mississippi Yes

In accordance with Executive Order 1458 issued by Governor Tate 
Reeves on March 14, 2020, declaring a state of emergency and by 
authority vested with the MS Board of Nursing (“BON”) pursuant to 
Miss. Code Ann. Sections 73-15-19 and 73-15-21, 1972, as amended, 
Disaster Temporary Permits will be issued to all eligible individuals 
who are classified in one of the following categories:  (1) new 
graduates of approved nursing schools (2) endorsement applicants 
and (3) qualified applicants from other states. Disaster Temporary 
Permits will also be issued to eligible reinstatement applicants and 
nurses who have maintained inactive status. 
 This Disaster Temporary Permit will allow all eligible nursing 
applicants to work in the State of Mississippi. This Disaster Temporary 
Permit is not a license but a permit that will expire in 120 days unless 
the Board approves a renewal period. Unless otherwise excepted, all 
licensure requirements will remain in full force and effect until further 
notice.
Out-of-state APRNs may utilize telehealth when treating patients in 
Mississippi without the necessity of securing a license to practice 
in the state, provided the out-of-state APRN holds an unrestricted 
license to practice in a state in which the APRN practices and 
currently is not the subject of an investigation or disciplinary 
proceeding and so advises in writing to the board. “every APRN who 
is currently not licensed in the State of Mississippi and who wishes to 
practice in this State shall complete the disastrous/emergency waiver 
found on the Board of Nursing’s website” 

Mississippi 
Board of 
Nursing	

RN/LPN Disaster 
Emergency Waiver 
Application	

APRN Disaster 
Emergency Waiver

Missouri Yes

"Missouri Board of Nursing has created an expedited licensure 
applications for nurses due to urgent staffing need.  
“Anyone who graduated on or after December 16, 2019, has not 
previously taken the NCLEX® and has not been denied a license is 
now authorized to practice as a graduate nurse pending the results 
of their first licensing exam or 180 days after graduation, whichever 
first occurs.” 
“In order to allow for continued employment, the board will 
automatically extend any unexpired temporary permit an additional 
six (6) months. This does not require any action by the nurse."

Missouri Board of 
Nursing

https://www.msbn.ms.gov/
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Board%20of%20Nursing%20Proclamation_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Board%20of%20Nursing%20Proclamation_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Board%20of%20Nursing%20Proclamation_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Temporary%20Disaster%20Relief%20Permit%20RN%20-LPN_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Temporary%20Disaster%20Relief%20Permit%20RN%20-LPN_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/Temporary%20Disaster%20Relief%20Permit%20RN%20-LPN_1.pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/temporary%20Disaster%20Relief%20Permit%20APRN_0%20(003).pdf
https://www.msbn.ms.gov/sites/default/files/temporary%20Disaster%20Relief%20Permit%20APRN_0%20(003).pdf
https://www.pr.mo.gov/nursing.asp
https://www.pr.mo.gov/nursing-covid-19.asp#collapseOne
https://www.pr.mo.gov/nursing-covid-19.asp#collapseOne
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Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Montana Yes

 "whenever a state of emergency or disaster is in effect, a volunteer 
professional who possesses an active, unrestricted license in another 
state may practice in Montana to the extent authorized by law as 
if the person had been licensed in Montana" "Prior to providing 
services in Montana, a volunteer professional who is licensed 
for professional services in another state shall register with the 
appropriate licensing agency in the state of Montana. The licensing 
agency shall verify the current licensure of the volunteer professional 
in the other state or states prior to registering the licensee."

Montana State 
Code 	

Executive Order 
2-2020

Nebraska Yes

“permit individuals who are properly and lawfully licensed to engage 
in advanced practice nursing, emergency medical services, medicine 
and surgery, mental health practice, nursing, osteopathy, perfusion, 
pharmacy, psychology, respritory care, and surgical assisting in a U.S. 
state or territory to work in Nebraska during the state of emergency so 
long as they are in good standing and free from disciplinary action in the 
states where they are licensed.”

Executive Order 
20-10

Nevada No

New Hampshire Yes

Any out of state professional, including, but not limited to, medical 
personnel, entering New Hampshire to assist in preparing for, 
responding to,mitigating the effects of and recovering from COVID-19 
shall be permitted to provide services in the same manner as prescribed 
RSA 21-P:41 and any other applicable statutory authority with respect to 
licensing and certification regarding mutual aid during emergencies for a 
period of time not to exceed the duration of the emergency

Governor Executive 
Order

New Jersey Awaiting 

"New Jersey will waive a host of regulatory requirements for health care 
professionals licensed in other jurisdictions to become licensed in New 
Jersey and offer services to New Jersey residents, including telemedicine 
and telehealth services. The waivers will apply during the public health 
emergency related to COVID-19. 
New Jersey is allowing nurses who hold active, unencumbered, multi-
state licenses issued by Nurse Licensure Compact member states to 
practice in New Jersey under their multi-state licenses."

Accelerated 
Temporary 
Licensure	

NJ Partial 
Implementation 
Nurse Licensure 
Compact	

Public Law 2020 
C.4

http://boards.bsd.dli.mt.gov/nur
https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0100/chapter_0030/part_0010/section_0180/0100-0030-0010-0180.html
https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0100/chapter_0030/part_0010/section_0180/0100-0030-0010-0180.html
https://governor.mt.gov/Portals/16/docs/2020EOs/EO-02-2020_COVID-19%20Emergency%20Declaration.pdf
https://governor.mt.gov/Portals/16/docs/2020EOs/EO-02-2020_COVID-19%20Emergency%20Declaration.pdf
http://dhhs.ne.gov/licensure/Pages/Nurse-Licensing.aspx
http://govdocs.nebraska.gov/docs/pilot/pubs/eofiles/20-10.pdf
http://govdocs.nebraska.gov/docs/pilot/pubs/eofiles/20-10.pdf
https://nevadanursingboard.org/
https://www.oplc.nh.gov/nursing/
https://www.oplc.nh.gov/nursing/documents/order-2020-04.pdf
https://www.oplc.nh.gov/nursing/documents/order-2020-04.pdf
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/nur/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/News/Pages/03202020.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/News/Pages/03202020.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/News/Pages/03202020.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/nur/Pages/applications.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/nur/Pages/applications.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/nur/Pages/applications.aspx
https://www.njconsumeraffairs.gov/nur/Pages/applications.aspx
https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/2020/Bills/A4000/3862_I1.HTM
https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/2020/Bills/A4000/3862_I1.HTM
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Member 
of Nurse 
Licensure 
Compact?

Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

New Mexico Yes

Nursing Practice Act (61-3-1 through 61-3-31 NMSA 1978)  
61-3-29. Exceptions. 
The Nursing Practice Act shall not apply to or affect:  
B.  nursing assistance in case of emergencies; 
BON Rules Part Two Nurse Licensure (16.12.2 NMAC) 
16.12.2.7 DEFINITIONS: 
M. Definitions beginning with the letter M: 
 (1) “medical emergency”, a situation resulting from a disaster in 
which the number of persons requiring nursing care exceeds the 
availability of New Mexico registered nurses or licensed practical 
nurses; 
16.12.2.10 LICENSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR REGISTERED AND 
PRACTICAL NURSES: 
Q. In case of a medical emergency (as defined in these rules), 
nurses currently licensed to practice as a RN or LPN in a jurisdiction 
of the United States may practice in New Mexico without making 
application for a New Mexico license for a period not to exceed 30 
days.

Governor Executive 
Order	

NM Nurse Practice 
Act

New York No

Sections 6512 through 6516, and 6905, 6906 and 6910 of the Education 
Law and Part 64 of Title 8 of the NYCRR, to the extent necessary to allow 
registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, and nurse practitioners 
licensed and in current good standing in any state in the United States to 
practice in New York State without civil or criminal penalty related to lack 
of licensure; 

Executive Order 
202.5

North Carolina Yes

Nurses holding an active, unrestricted single state license in a 
non-compact state can practice in NC during periods of official 
emergency or disaster. The nurse must work within an organized 
health system or for a recognized emergency provider. The system/
provider is accountable for verification of unrestricted licensure 
through Nursys. The system/provider must maintain a record of the 
names and verified license number of out of state nurses for a period 
of 1 year and provide this information to the Board if requested.

North Carolina 
Board of Nursing

North Dakota Yes

The Order was implemented to allow nurses licensed in another state to 
work in North Dakota to care for citizens impacted by COVID-19 corona 
virus.  This Order applies only to nurses whose license in their home 
state is in good standing.

Executive Order 
2020-05

Northern 
Mariana Islands

No

http://nmbon.sks.com/
https://www.governor.state.nm.us/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-2020-004.pdf
https://www.governor.state.nm.us/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Executive-Order-2020-004.pdf
https://law.justia.com/codes/new-mexico/2018/chapter-61/article-3/section-61-3-29/
https://law.justia.com/codes/new-mexico/2018/chapter-61/article-3/section-61-3-29/
http://www.op.nysed.gov/prof/nurse/
https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/no-2025-continuing-temporary-suspension-and-modification-laws-relating-disaster-emergency
https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/no-2025-continuing-temporary-suspension-and-modification-laws-relating-disaster-emergency
https://www.ncbon.com/
https://www.ncbon.com/vdownloads/coronavirus/guidance-for-nurses-during-covid-19.pdf
https://www.ncbon.com/vdownloads/coronavirus/guidance-for-nurses-during-covid-19.pdf
https://www.ndbon.org/
https://www.governor.nd.gov/sites/www/files/documents/executive-orders/Executive%20Order%202020-05.pdf
https://www.governor.nd.gov/sites/www/files/documents/executive-orders/Executive%20Order%202020-05.pdf
https://nmibon.info/
https://nmibon.info/
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Emergency Licensing Waiver? Applicable Statutory/Administrative Provisions
 (ex. Nurse Practice Act, Emergency Management Statutes, etc.) Source(s)

Ohio No

The Nurse Practice Act, Section 4723.32(G)(7), Ohio Revised Code (ORC), 
allows nurses who hold an active, valid license in another state to 
practice in Ohio without an Ohio nursing license for the duration of any 
declared disaster, including the current COVID-19 declared emergency.

The Nurse Practice Act authorizes the Board to issue temporary 
permits which allows nurses to begin practicing in Ohio within 2-3 
business days or less of the Board’s receipt of an application for 
reciprocity. 

Ohio Board of 
Nursing

Oklahoma Yes

Any medical professional who holds a license, certificate, or other 
permit issued by any state is a party to the Emergency Management 
Compact evidencing the meeting of qualifications for the practice of 
certain medical services, as more particularly described below, shall be 
deemed licensed to practice in OKlahoma so long as this Order shall be 
in office, subject be in effect, subject to the following conditions. This 
shall only apply to Medical (MD) and Allied Licenses issued by the Board 
of Medical Licensure and Supervision, Licenses issued by State Board 
of Osteopathic Examiners and Licenses and Certificates issued by the 
Board of Nursing.  

APRNs, RNs and LPNs who have lapsed or inactive licenses or 
certifications may have their single-state license or certification 
reinstated if they meet qualifications established by the board. 
 
OK Tax Commission compliance for APRNs, RNs and LPNs for renewal 
or reinstatement of a lapsed or inactive license or certification is 
waived.

Oklahoma 
Executive Order 
2020-07

Oregon No
 The Board is allowing nurses and nursing assistants licensed in 
another state or US jurisdiction to provide care in Oregon under special 
provisions

Oregon Board of 
Nursing

Pennsylvania No

Temporary permits for nurses licensed in other states can be issued 
immediately upon application, once licensure in the applicant’s home 
state is verified through Nursys, based on a suspension approved by 
the Governor. Also, like medical and osteopathic medicine above, the 
Governor temporarily suspended continuing education requirements. 
Temporary licenses for nurse-midwives do not exist. To expedite 
nurse-midwife licenses, the continuing education requirements were 
suspended by the Governor. Additionally, the Board can verify licensure 
in another state through their license verification system. To qualify for 
licensure as a nurse-midwife, the applicant would first have to obtain a 
nursing license.

Pennsylvania 
Department of 
State

Puerto Rico No

Rhode Island No

Beginning March 18, 2020, out-of-state licensees need only submit a 
completed application form and a statement verifying the license status 
from their home state to receive a 90-day license to practice in Rhode 
Island. This temporary license can be renewed one time. 

Emergency 
Reciprocal 
Licensing 
Professions and 
Procedures

South Carolina Yes

“[t]he appropriate licensing authority may waive any or all licensing 
requirements, permits, or fees required by law and applicable orders, 
rules, or regulations for health care providers from other jurisdictions to 
practice in this State;”

South Carolina 
Department of 
Labor, Licensing 
and Regulation

https://nursing.ohio.gov/
https://nursing.ohio.gov/
https://nursing.ohio.gov/
http://nursing.ok.gov/
https://www.sos.ok.gov/documents/Executive/1917.pdf
https://www.sos.ok.gov/documents/Executive/1917.pdf
https://www.sos.ok.gov/documents/Executive/1917.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/osbn/Pages/index.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/OSBN/Pages/index.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/OSBN/Pages/index.aspx
https://www.dos.pa.gov/ProfessionalLicensing/BoardsCommissions/Nursing/Pages/default.aspx#.VTEYxCFVhBd
https://www.dos.pa.gov/Documents/2020-03-18-Temporary-Licenses-Out-of-State-Practitioners.pdf
https://www.dos.pa.gov/Documents/2020-03-18-Temporary-Licenses-Out-of-State-Practitioners.pdf
https://www.dos.pa.gov/Documents/2020-03-18-Temporary-Licenses-Out-of-State-Practitioners.pdf
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://health.ri.gov/licenses/
https://llr.sc.gov/nurse/
https://llr.sc.gov/nurse/pdf/Nursing%20Board%20Order%203-14-2020%20Signed.pdf
https://llr.sc.gov/nurse/pdf/Nursing%20Board%20Order%203-14-2020%20Signed.pdf
https://llr.sc.gov/nurse/pdf/Nursing%20Board%20Order%203-14-2020%20Signed.pdf
https://llr.sc.gov/nurse/pdf/Nursing%20Board%20Order%203-14-2020%20Signed.pdf
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South Dakota Yes

Executive Order 2020-07 grants “full recognition to the licenses held by 
a [medical] professional by any compact member state, in accordance 
with the Uniform Emergency Management Assistance Compact should 
those facilities require additional professionals to meet patient needs 
during the COVID-19 emergency, whether in-person or by remote 
needs.”

36-9-32.1.   Temporary permit for applicant holding license from 
another state. Upon application and payment of the required fee, 
the board may issue a temporary permit to an applicant holding a 
current license as a registered nurse from any other state or territory 
awaiting endorsement. This permit shall bear an issuance date and a 
termination date and may not be valid for more than ninety days.

Executive Order 
2020-07

SD Board of 
Nursing Notice

Practice Act - 
Temporary Permit

Tennessee Yes

The provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 68-11-201(20), 
are hereby suspended to the extent necessary to allow health care 
professionals who would otherwise be subject to licensing requirements 
to provide localized treatment of patients in temporary residences.

Executive Order

Texas Yes

" Governor Abbott directed the Texas Board of Nursing (TBON) to fast-
track the temporary licensing of out-of-state nurses, and other license 
types to assist in Texas' response to COVID-19. 
 
In accordance with Section 418.171 of Texas Government Code, any 
out-of-state nurse may practice in Texas for the purpose of rendering 
aid, provided the nurse holds a current license in good standing in their 
home state. Therefore, any out-of-state nurse with a license in good 
standing* is not required to hold a Texas license in order to practice 
nursing in a disaster relief effort operation setting. "

Texas Board of 
Nursing

Utah Yes

A nurse who is licensed and lawfully practicing in another U.S. state or 
territory without restrictions or conditions may practice in Utah for the 
duration of the declared emergency by obtaining a DOPL Time-limited 
Emergency License. Time-limited Emergency Licenses expire upon the 
earlier of 180 days, 30 days from the end of the declared emergency, or 
upon 10 days’ notice from DOPL. (Time-limited Emergency licenses are 
issued as a single-state license valid only in Utah, and will not be eligible 
as a Nurse Interstate Licensure Compact license.)

Utah Department 
of Commerce, 
Division of 
Occupational 
and Professional 
Licensing

Vermont No

Vermont State Statutes, during a state of emergency, allow applicants 
who are coming in to assist with the emergency, with a temporary 
license that is valid for 90 days, renewable every 90 days until the state 
of emergency is over. Each time the applicant renews the temporary 90 
day license, the fee will be waived.3 V.S. A. §129(10).

Vermont Office 
of Professional 
Regulation

Virgin Islands No

https://doh.sd.gov/boards/nursing/
https://sdsos.gov/general-information/executive-actions/executive-orders/assets/2020-07.PDF
https://sdsos.gov/general-information/executive-actions/executive-orders/assets/2020-07.PDF
https://doh.sd.gov/boards/nursing/
https://doh.sd.gov/boards/nursing/
http://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes/Codified_Laws/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=36-9-32.1
http://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes/Codified_Laws/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=36-9-32.1
https://www.tn.gov/health/health-program-areas/health-professional-boards/nursing-board/nursing-board/about.html
https://publications.tnsosfiles.com/pub/execorders/exec-orders-lee14.pdf
http://www.bon.texas.gov/
https://www.bon.texas.gov/FastTrackOutofStateLicensing.asp
https://www.bon.texas.gov/FastTrackOutofStateLicensing.asp
https://dopl.utah.gov/nurse/index.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://dopl.utah.gov/covid19.html
https://sos.vermont.gov/
https://sos.vermont.gov/opr/about-opr/covid-19-response/
https://sos.vermont.gov/opr/about-opr/covid-19-response/
https://sos.vermont.gov/opr/about-opr/covid-19-response/
http://www.thevibnl.org/
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Virginia Yes

Gov waives the requirements for submission of a fee and evidence of 
continuing education to reinstate or reactivate a license for registered 
nurses, licensed practical nurses, and licensed nurse practitioners who 
held an unrestricted, active license issued by the Board within the past 
four years.

Virginia Dept. of 
Health Professions 
Guidance

Washington No

Under RCW 70.15.050, while an emergency proclamation of the 
Governor is in effect, a volunteer health practitioner who is licensed 
in another state may practice in Washington without obtaining a 
Washington license if he or she is in good standing in all states of 
licensure and is registered in the volunteer health practitioner system.

Washington 
Department of 
Health

West Virginia Yes

Wisconsin Yes
"The practice of any nurse, currently licensed in another jurisdiction, in 
the provision of nursing care in the case of an emergency or disaster as 
declared by the governor"

(b) A person who holds a current, valid nursing credential may 
practice professional or practical nursing in this state, as provided 
under par. (c), for not more than 72 consecutive hours each year 
without holding a license granted by the board under this subchapter 
if the board determines that the requirements for the nursing 
credential that the person holds are substantially equivalent to 
the requirements for licensure under this subchapter. Except in an 
emergency, the person shall provide to the board, at least 7 days 
before practicing professional or practical nursing for the person who 
is specified under par. (c) 2., written notice that includes the name 
of the person providing notice, the type of nursing credential that 
the person holds and the name of the state, territory, foreign country 
or province that granted the nursing credential. In the event of an 
emergency, the person shall provide to the board written notice that 
includes the information otherwise required under this paragraph, as 
soon as practicable.

Nurse Practice 
Act: Exceptions, 
Temporary Practice

Wyoming Yes
The practice of any nurse or nursing assistant, currently licensed or 
certified in another jurisdiction, in the provision of nursing care in the 
case of an emergency or disaster as declared by the governor

Wyoming State 
Statute

Disclaimer: This information has been gathered from a variety of sources. Although NCSBN has made every effort to provide complete, accurate and up-to-date information, NCSBN makes no warranties, express or implied, or representations as to 
the accuracy or reliability of this information. The information is fluid and evolving. NCSBN assumes no liability or responsibility for any errors or omissions in the information contained in this resource.

http://www.dhp.virginia.gov/Boards/Nursing/
https://www.dhp.virginia.gov/media/dhpweb/docs/nursing/leg/BONReinstatementReactivationWaiver_03232020.pdf
https://www.dhp.virginia.gov/media/dhpweb/docs/nursing/leg/BONReinstatementReactivationWaiver_03232020.pdf
https://www.dhp.virginia.gov/media/dhpweb/docs/nursing/leg/BONReinstatementReactivationWaiver_03232020.pdf
https://www.doh.wa.gov/LicensesPermitsandCertificates/NursingCommission
https://www.doh.wa.gov/Emergencies/NovelCoronavirusOutbreak2020COVID19/HealthcareProviders/EmergencyVolunteerHealthPractitioners
https://www.doh.wa.gov/Emergencies/NovelCoronavirusOutbreak2020COVID19/HealthcareProviders/EmergencyVolunteerHealthPractitioners
https://www.doh.wa.gov/Emergencies/NovelCoronavirusOutbreak2020COVID19/HealthcareProviders/EmergencyVolunteerHealthPractitioners
https://wvrnboard.wv.gov/Pages/default.aspx
https://dsps.wi.gov/pages/BoardsCouncils/Nursing/Default.aspx
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/441
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/441
https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/441
https://wsbn.wyo.gov/
https://law.justia.com/codes/wyoming/2011/title33/chapter21/section33-21-154/

